THE EFFECTS OF AGE AND SEX ON PATTERN SEPARATION ABILITIES IN SPRAGUE-DAWLEY RATS

By

© Elham Zamani

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the master's degree of Experimental Psychology

Department of Psychology, Faculty of Science,

Memorial University of Newfoundland

August 2024

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

Abstract

Pattern separation, which is important for episodic memory, minimizes the overlap between neural representations of similar experiences. This study explored age and sex differences in pattern separation using male and female rats at two life stages: young (4-5 months) and old (14-15 months). We employed a two-trial spatial Y-maze to assess spatial memory, where rats first explored two open arms (acquisition phase) and then were tested for their preference for a previously unexplored arm (24 h later). At this test, female rats regardless of age traveled greater distances and spent more time in the novel arm location, than male rats. In the spontaneous location recognition (SLR) task, rats were presented with objects at known locations during the sample phase and tested for object location memory after 24 h. Two versions of this test were performed: a Dissimilar SLR (DSLR) test where the location of a familiar object in the test trial varied greatly from the previous location of the object, and a Similar SLR (SSLR) task where the new location of a familiar object differed to a lesser degree from the original location. The DSLR and SSLR tasks were performed first in a circular arena, and again in a square arena. In the DSLR task in the square arena young rats spent a greater percentage of time exploring the familiar object in a new location than their older counterparts, also females showed higher discrimination ratios than males. However, results from the SSLR in the square arena did not reveal significant differences across age or sex in memory retention. Contrasts between circular and square arena performance suggest that task environment may influence memory retention and discrimination. Overall, this study highlights potential age and sex influences in tasks of pattern separation and suggests these influences may vary dependent on task.

General Summary

This study examined age and sex influences on pattern separation which is essential for reducing neural overlap in episodic memory, in adult and older adult rats. In the two-trial spatial Y-maze, female rats consistently demonstrated enhanced activity and memory retention at 24 h, showing a preference for novel arms regardless of age. The spontaneous location recognition (SLR) tasks in a circular arena revealed no significant discrimination ratio differences, indicating no preference for familiar objects in novel locations. However, in the square arena, females and younger animals showed superior spatial discrimination in the Dissimilar (DSLR) task, compared to males and older groups respectively. The Similar (SSLR) task was inconclusive, suggesting task or environmental complexities may affect outcomes. While the findings highlight memory retention in female rats, they do not conclusively establish consistent age and sex differences across tasks, pointing to the need for further investigation.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, excessive thanks are due to the almighty for continual support and guidance during moments of doubt, uncertainty and disappointment. I cannot hide that my belief in "God's plan is better than my plan" has been a driving force behind this endeavor.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Susan Walling, for her guidance, encouragement, and support throughout the entire process of this dissertation.

I am also deeply thankful to Dr. Darlene Skinner, and Dr. Jacqueline Blundell, members of my dissertation committee, for their insightful feedback, constructive criticism, and valuable suggestions that have significantly enriched this work.

I am grateful to my family for their unconditional love, encouragement, and understanding during the challenging phases of this academic journey. Their unwavering support has been a constant source of strength and motivation.

Table of Contents

| Age and Sex Differences in Pattern Separation Abilities in Sprague-Dawley Rats | 1 |
|--|----|
| Pattern Separation and Its Relation to Episodic Memory | 1 |
| Pattern Separation and Its Neural Mechanisms | 3 |
| Age Differences Based on Human Studies | 4 |
| Sex Differences Based on Human Studies | 7 |
| Age-Related Changes Based on Rodent Studies | 8 |
| Sex-Related Changes Based on Rodent Studies | 10 |
| Neurobiological Mechanisms | 11 |
| Behavioural Tasks | 13 |
| Other Factors Affecting Behavioural Performance | 15 |
| Material and Methods | 15 |
| Subjects | 15 |
| Apparatus and procedure | 16 |
| Y-maze Task | 16 |
| Spontaneous Location Recognition Task | 18 |
| Data Analysis | 23 |
| Results | 23 |
| Y-maze | 23 |
| Circular SLR | 25 |
| Square SLR | 27 |
| Discussion | 29 |
| Effects of Age and Sex on Memory for a Two-Trial Non-Aversive Spatial Y-Maze | |
| Effects of Age and Sex on Memory for Two Versions of the SLR | |
| Factors to consider when interpreting results | |
| Implications and Future Directions | 35 |
| Conclusion and Summary | 36 |
| References | |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Y-maze Apparatus | |
|-------------------------------------|----|
| Figure 2: SLR Task Apparatus | 22 |
| Figure 3: Y-maze Results | 24 |
| Figure 4: Circular SLR Task Results | 26 |
| Figure 5: Square SLR Task Results | |

Age and Sex Differences in Pattern Separation Abilities in Sprague-Dawley Rats

There is a longstanding global consensus that the hippocampus is essential for the formation of episodic memories, which are new memories about previously encountered incidents. This theory has been supported and expanded upon over decades, with seminal work by Scoville and Milner (1957) identifying the critical role of the hippocampus in memory formation, further elaborated by Squire (1992) in his discussions on memory and brain systems and reaffirmed by recent studies such as Moscovitch et al. (2016) among many other research. The hippocampus, a critical structure for episodic memory, includes two main regions: the hippocampus proper (including CA1, CA2, CA3 regions) and the dentate gyrus (DG) (Lorente De Nó, 1934; Amaral & Witter, 1989; Ding & Van Hoesen, 2015; Knierim, 2015). Pattern separation is essential for episodic memory as it minimizes the overlap between neural activities representing similar experiences (Marr, 1971; McNaughton & Morris, 1987; Norman & O'Reilly, 2003; Yassa & Stark, 2011). This cognitive process enables the formation of unique and non-overlapping memory representations, allowing individuals to distinguish between similar but distinct experiences or memories (Yassa & Stark, 2011). Pattern separation is hypothesized to occur predominantly in the DG of the hippocampus (Yassa & Stark, 2011). The DG is responsible for transforming similar input patterns into distinct output patterns, thereby minimizing interference and confusion among memories. Granule cells within the DG play a role in this process, as they help encode distinct aspects of experiences, facilitating the storage of non-overlapping memory traces (McClelland et al., 1995; Norman & O'Reilly, 2003).

Pattern Separation and Its Relation to Episodic Memory

Pattern separation is a neural process that helps differentiate between similar but distinct inputs by transforming overlapping representations into non-overlapping ones. Pattern separation allows the brain to minimize confusion between memories that share similar features or contexts. By creating distinct neural representations for similar experiences, pattern separation prevents interference between memories and enables the accurate recall of specific events (Yassa & Stark, 2011). For example, consider two similar experiences, such as visiting two different restaurants that have a similar layout. Without pattern separation, these experiences might become conflated, leading to difficulties in recalling specific details about each visit. However, pattern separation ensures that each event is encoded with distinct neural representations, allowing for accurate recall of the individual experiences. This process is especially important when dealing with highly similar inputs, such as distinguishing between two objects that look alike or recalling the details of events that took place in the same location but at different times. Pattern separation ensures that these experiences are stored as unique and non-overlapping memories.

Pattern separation is necessary for episodic memory because it allows the brain to create distinct neural representations for each event, even when events are similar. This ensures that memories remain unique and do not interfere with one another. For example, two similar experiences that occur in the same location on different days can be remembered as distinct episodes because of pattern separation. Without this process, memories of similar experiences could overlap, leading to confusion and difficulty recalling specific details.

In rodents, episodic memory is often modeled through tasks that assess the ability to remember specific locations, objects, or sequences of events. These tasks rely on the same underlying neural mechanisms as human episodic memory, including pattern separation in the DG (Eichenbaum, 2000; Kesner & Rolls, 2015). For instance, tasks like the two-trial spatial Y-maze or novel object recognition, test the rodent's ability to distinguish between different spatial locations or objects, which directly relates to pattern separation and episodic memory. The two-

choice Y-maze task involves training the rodent to choose between two arms of the maze with or without reinforcement. This task evaluates the animal's ability to remember and discriminate between different locations based on previous experiences, thus providing insight into spatial memory and pattern separation (Cleal et al., 2021). Similarly, the novel object recognition task tests the rodent's memory for object identity and spatial context by measuring its preference for exploring a novel object over a familiar one. This task is commonly used to assess recognition memory, a key component of episodic memory (Antunes & Biala, 2012).

Pattern Separation and Its Neural Mechanisms

The DG plays a critical role in the hippocampal memory network by performing pattern separation. The DG receives sensory and contextual information primarily through inputs from the entorhinal cortex (EC), specifically the perforant path, which conveys highly processed multimodal sensory information from cortical areas (Amaral & Witter, 1989; Knierim et al., 2014).

Inputs to the DG: The primary input to the DG comes from Layer II of the medial and lateral EC via the perforant path. This input carries spatial, temporal, and contextual information, which is essential for the formation of episodic memories (Dolorfo & Amaral, 1998; van Groen & Wyss, 1990). The medial entorhinal cortex (MEC) provides spatial information through grid cells, head direction cells, and border cells, while the lateral entorhinal cortex (LEC) contributes non-spatial, object-related information (Hafting et al., 2005; Sargolini et al., 2006). This convergence of inputs allows the DG to integrate spatial and non-spatial information, a pivotal process for pattern separation (Knierim, 2015; Neunuebel & Knierim, 2014).

Outputs from Granule Cells: Granule cells in the DG are the principal excitatory neurons and their axons, called mossy fibers, project to the CA3 region of the hippocampus. The CA3 region is critical for associative memory and pattern completion processes (Kalil, 1981; Rolls,

2007). The sparse and specific activation of granule cells ensures that similar input patterns are transformed into distinct output patterns, reducing overlap and allowing the hippocampus to create unique memory representations. This sparse coding is thought to be one of the key mechanisms by which the DG performs pattern separation (Nakashiba et al., 2012).

Organization within the Hippocampal Network: The DG is the first stage of the trisynaptic circuit in the hippocampus, which includes the DG, CA3, and CA1 subfields (Amaral & Witter, 1989). After receiving input from the EC, the DG processes this information and sends it to the CA3 region via mossy fiber projections (Kalil, 1981). The CA3 region is heavily interconnected and capable of pattern completion, which allows it to retrieve entire memories based on partial or degraded cues (Rolls, 2007). The information is then passed from CA3 to CA1 through the Schaffer collaterals, and from CA1, it is transmitted back to the EC or to other cortical areas for long-term storage (Rolls, 2013). The DG's ability to perform pattern separation is crucial for the proper functioning of this entire network, as it helps to reduce interference between similar memories.

Age Differences Based on Human Studies

Pattern separation is a cognitive process that shows significant variation across different stages of life, from childhood to older adulthood. Studies using the mnemonic similarity task (MST) have provided valuable insights into how these abilities change over time. The MST typically involves participants viewing a series of images and later identifying whether they have seen an exact image before "old", have not seen it before "new", or have seen a similar but not identical image "lure". The ability to correctly identify similar images as "lures" rather than confusing them with previously seen images is a key measure of pattern separation.

Children: Pattern separation skills are still developing in children, typically improving with age. For instance, children aged 4-6 years often struggle with distinguishing between similar items or experiences, leading to more overlap in their memories. As children grow older, their ability to separate patterns generally improves (Canada et al., 2019; Ngo et al., 2018). For example, Ngo et al. (2018) found that younger children tend to have higher false recognition rates for similar items, indicating less effective pattern separation. However, one potential confound in these studies is the role of language or categorization skills, which are still maturing in younger children and may affect their performance on tasks like the MST. Younger children might not fully grasp the subtle distinctions required to perform well on the task, or they may have difficulty with the verbal instructions, which could lead to underestimation of their true pattern separation abilities. Canada et al. (2019) also found that children aged 7-12 years performed better on pattern separation tasks than younger children suggesting that cognitive and linguistic development plays a role in improving performance. While these studies highlight the developmental trajectory of pattern separation, it is important to consider that the MST may not perfectly align with the nonverbal, spatial tasks typically used in rodent studies, like the Simultaneous Location Recognition (SLR) task.

Adolescents: Adolescents (13-18 years), tend to have better pattern separation abilities compared to younger children. During adolescence, the brain undergoes significant structural and functional changes, particularly in the hippocampus, which contribute to improved memory discrimination (Rollins & Cloude, 2018). Adolescents showed improved performance on the MST compared to children, with lower false alarm rates for similar lures, indicating enhanced pattern separation abilities. This improvement is attributed to the continued maturation of the hippocampus and associated neural circuits during adolescence (Rollins & Cloude, 2018).

However, similar to studies with children, potential confounds such as developmental differences in attention, motivation, and categorization skills should be considered.

Young Adults: Pattern separation abilities tend to peak during young adulthood, roughly between the ages of 18-30 years. This period is characterized by optimal cognitive abilities, including memory function (Stark et al., 2010; Riphagen et al., 2020; Youm & Moscovitch, 2021). Riphagen et al. (2020) reported that young adults performed best on pattern separation tasks, such as the MST, compared to other age groups. Young adults typically show the lowest rates of false recognition for similar items, reflecting highly effective pattern separation. Stark et al. (2010) and Youm and Moscovitch (2021) also found that young adults exhibit robust hippocampal activity compared to older adults during these tasks, further supporting their superior pattern separation capabilities.

Middle-Aged and Older Adults: With aging, there is often a decline in pattern separation abilities, starting around middle age (40-60 years) and becoming more pronounced in older adults (65+ years) (Holden et al., 2012; Stark et al., 2013; Leal et al., 2017). Holden et al. (2012) employed a spatial pattern separation task designed to assess participants' ability to distinguish between objects placed in different spatial locations. In their task, objects were presented at varying degrees of spatial separation, challenging participants to recognize whether an object had been moved or remained in the same position. This spatial memory task is particularly relevant to studies on pattern separation because it closely parallels how the brain differentiates between similar spatial inputs—a core function of the DG in the hippocampus. This task is conceptually similar to the SLR task used in our study, where rats must distinguish between familiar and novel object locations. Both tasks require subjects to engage in pattern separation by differentiating between spatial configurations, making them suitable for assessing hippocampal-dependent memory processes. Holden et al. (2012) found that middle-aged adults (aged 40-60) began to show increased difficulty with spatial pattern separation tasks compared to younger adults (aged 18-30). This decline was particularly evident when objects were placed in spatially similar locations, indicating that the ability to resolve fine spatial distinctions diminishes with age. These difficulties became more pronounced in older adults (65+), who showed significant impairments in distinguishing between similar spatial locations. The decline in spatial memory and pattern separation abilities observed by Holden et al. is consistent with research showing age-related impairments in hippocampal function, particularly in the DG. For example, studies by Stark et al. (2013) and Leal et al. (2017) revealed older adults show higher false alarm rates on the MST and reduced activation in the hippocampus during these tasks. The decline in pattern separation abilities with age is often attributed to structural and functional changes in the DG. These changes include reduced neurogenesis (the process by which new neurons are formed), synaptic plasticity (the ability of synapses to strengthen or weaken over time) impairments, and overall hippocampal atrophy, all of which contribute to decreased cognitive performance in tasks requiring memory discrimination (Leal et al., 2017).

Sex Differences Based on Human Studies

In addition to age-related changes, sex differences in pattern separation abilities have also been observed in some studies. For instance, Saucier et al. (2007) found that females tended to outperform males on object location memory tasks, which rely heavily on spatial discrimination. This finding aligns with other research suggesting that hormonal differences, such as the influence of estrogen, may contribute to sex differences in hippocampal function and memory performance (Galea et al., 2008). However, these sex differences may vary depending on the specific task and context. In the MST, some studies have shown that females may perform better on certain memory discrimination tasks, particularly those involving verbal or object-based memories, while males might excel in more spatially oriented tasks (Andreano & Cahill, 2009). These differences are likely driven by both hormonal influences and structural differences in the hippocampus between the sexes. There is evidence that suggests differences between males and females in cognitive abilities and hippocampal plasticity (Yagi & Galea, 2019), but note that these differences are not uniform across all individuals and can be influenced by various factors such as genetics, and individual experiences (Moser et al., 1993; Sweatt, 2016). While research on sex differences in pattern separation in humans is limited, some studies have demonstrated distinct cognitive strategies between males and females in spatial memory and problem-solving tasks. For example, Jockwitz et al. (2021) found that females tend to use landmark-based navigation strategies, whereas males more frequently employ cardinal direction strategies. Similarly, Meneghetti et al., (2012) observed that when solving spatial tasks, women prefer route-based strategies and men tend to use survey-based strategies, impacting how each sex processes and recalls spatial information. These differences may result in varying approaches to pattern separation, but they are not necessarily indicative of one sex being better than the other.

To summarize, pattern separation abilities in humans can change across the lifespan, with peak performance typically occurring during young adulthood and declining with age. Sex differences in pattern separation are less well-understood, but there may be variations in cognitive strategies and approaches that are influenced by biological, hormonal, and sociocultural factors.

Age-Related Changes Based on Rodent Studies

In addition to clinical and human studies, research on pattern separation often involves the use of animal models, such as rats, to investigate how this process changes with age and sex. Moreover, rodent studies can reveal the mechanisms underlying these changes. Aging is associated with cognitive decline in rats, including changes in pattern separation abilities and spatial learning (Gallagher & Nicolle, 1993). The hippocampus undergoes structural and functional changes with age. For instance, older rats show decreased volume in the hippocampus and parahippocampal cortices (Yassa & Stark, 2011). Moreover, a loss of synaptic connections in the perforant pathway and a deficit in the induction and maintenance of plasticity (i.e., long-term potentiation) at DG synapses in aged rats have been reported (Kuhn et al., 1996; Yassa et al., 2011). All of these changes negatively impact cognitive functions and memory formation.

Defining "Young" vs. "Old" in Rats

In rodent research, the terms "young" and "old" are typically defined relative to the lifespan of the species. Sprague-Dawley rats, which were used in this study, generally have a lifespan of around 2 to 3 years under laboratory conditions (Sengupta, 2013). Based on this lifespan, different life stages can be categorized as follows:

Young Adult Rats: Rats that are 4-5 months old are considered young adults. At this stage, rats have reached sexual maturity, and their cognitive and physical development is near its peak. This age group is often used to model young adult humans (roughly equivalent to humans in their 20s or 30s) in research studies (Sengupta, 2013).

Mid Adult Rats: Rats that are 14-15 months old are generally considered middle-aged to early old age(Sengupta, 2013). While this age represents middle age in the context of their overall lifespan, physiological changes associated with aging, such as cognitive decline and reduced physical activity, often begin to manifest during this period. In human terms, 14-15 months old in Sprague-Dawley rats can be roughly equated to middle adulthood or early old age (equivalent to a human in their 50s or early 60s), depending on various factors such as genetics and living conditions. Although 14-15 months is not "old" in the sense of end-of-life or advanced aging (e.g.,

rats older than 18 months are often categorized as "old" or "geriatric"), this age group still exhibits significant age-related changes. Therefore, these rats serve as a model for studying the onset of aging-related processes, including cognitive decline, which makes them relevant for research on early-stage aging and memory deficits.

In present study, 14-15 months was chosen as the "old" age group to capture the onset of age-related cognitive decline, which can manifest before the rats reach the later stages of their life. Previous research has shown that cognitive deficits, such as declines in spatial memory and pattern separation abilities, often begin to appear during this middle-aged period in rats (Gallagher et al., 2015; Holden & Gilbert, 2012). Thus, this age group serves as a suitable model for investigating the early effects of aging on memory and other cognitive functions.

By using these age groups, the study aims to explore not just the advanced effects of aging but also the early changes that occur as the rats' transition from young adulthood to middle age, which parallels the human experience of aging.

Sex-Related Changes Based on Rodent Studies

Some studies in rodents showed that there might be sex differences in cognitive functions, including pattern separation. Meta-analyses of sex differences in rodents indicate that males tend to excel over females in tasks reliant on the hippocampus (Jonasson, 2005). There are a number of factors influencing cognitive performance in males and females. For instance, the morphology and electrophysiological properties of hippocampal neurons differ in male and female rats. Fitch et al. (1989) showed male rats had a greater number of dendritic intersections in granule cell layers of DG compared to females. In other studies, male rats demonstrated larger early and late long-term potentiation (LTP) in comparison to females when a high frequency stimulus inserted to the different regions of the hippocampus (Monfort et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2004). Moreover,

hormonal fluctuations, especially related to the estrous cycle in females, influence a number of parameters such as cell proliferation (Rummel et al., 2010), neurogenesis (Tanapat et al., 1999), hippocampal volumes (Qiu et al., 2013) synaptic plasticity (Warren et al., 1995), and glutamatergic receptors (Tada et al., 2015). Female Sprague-Dawley rats during proestrus exhibit greater cell proliferation compared to non-proestrus females and males (Tanapat et al., 1999). Adult male Wistar rats have more immature neurons in DG compared to females (Hillerer et al., 2013). Also, for the first time, Qi et al. (2016) showed that proestrus female Sprague-Dawley rats demonstrate greater magnitude of early-LTP in the perforant path compared to diestrus females. They also found that the composition of AMPA/NMDA receptors of CA1 pyramidal neurons is different between males and females, with females showing greater AMPA/NMDA ratio than males.

Neurobiological Mechanisms

Hormonal differences between males and females, especially during adolescence and adulthood, can influence neurogenesis and cognitive functioning (Kight & McCarthy, 2020). Estrogen, a primary female sex hormone, can significantly impact memory processes, including pattern separation, given that there are notable sex differences in the receptor characteristics of the hippocampus (Yagi & Galea, 2019). Estrogen receptors (ER α and ER β) are abundantly expressed in the hippocampus and play a crucial role in modulating synaptic plasticity and neurogenesis (Frick, 2009). Studies have shown that estrogen enhances dendritic spine density and synaptic connectivity in the hippocampus, which are essential for the formation of distinct memory representations, a process critical for effective pattern separation. These enhancements improve the brain's ability to discriminate between similar experiences by reducing overlap in neural activity patterns (Tuscher et al., 2018). The hormone's neuroprotective effects also contribute to maintaining hippocampal function and reducing cognitive decline (Brinton, 2009).

Testosterone, the primary male sex hormone, also influences cognitive functioning and hippocampal plasticity. Testosterone and its metabolites, such as dihydrotestosterone (DHT), interact with androgen receptors in the brain, including the hippocampus. These interactions can modulate synaptic plasticity, neurogenesis, and the expression of neurotrophic factors (Galea et al., 2008; Hampson et al., 2014). Testosterone has been associated with improved spatial memory and cognitive performance in males (Hampson et al., 2014; Janowsky, 2006). However, the exact mechanisms by which testosterone affects hippocampal function and pattern separation are less well understood compared to estrogen (Galea et al., 2006). The interplay between estrogen and testosterone and their respective receptors highlights the complexity of sex differences in cognitive functions and hippocampal plasticity. While these hormones contribute to differential cognitive strategies and memory processes between males and females, it is important to recognize that these effects are not absolute and can vary widely among individuals.

Research has shown that synaptic plasticity is crucial for learning and memory including pattern separation. Age-related declines in synaptic plasticity can impair these cognitive processes (Fitch et al., 1989; Warren et al., 1995). Neurotransmitter systems, particularly those involving glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), also play a critical role in pattern separation. Glutamate, the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, is essential for synaptic transmission and plasticity in the hippocampus. GABA, the main inhibitory neurotransmitter, helps balance excitatory signals and prevent excessive neural activity. Age-related changes in these neurotransmitter systems can affect the efficiency of synaptic transmission and plasticity, thereby impacting pattern separation abilities (Fitch et al., 1989). Alterations in neurogenesis in the DG, are also implicated in age and sex differences in pattern separation as Tanapat et al. (1999)

demonstrated that neurogenesis declines with age, which is predicted to contribute to cognitive deficits.

Sex may influence age-related neurobiological changes, further complicating the landscape of cognitive aging. Studies indicate that females experience different trajectories of cognitive decline compared to males, potentially due to hormonal differences, such as the decrease in estrogen levels during menopause (Brinton, 2009). This decline in estrogen can negatively impact hippocampal function and exacerbate age-related reductions in synaptic plasticity and neurogenesis. Considering these factors, it is essential to include female subjects in preclinical and clinical studies to fully understand the sex-specific mechanisms underlying cognitive aging and the vulnerability to neurodegenerative disorders. Moreover, more than half of the elderly population vulnerable to neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, are females. This highlights the need for gender-specific research to develop targeted interventions and treatments. Including female subjects in studies ensures that findings are more representative and applicable to the general population, thereby improving the effectiveness of therapeutic strategies.

Behavioural Tasks

Researchers commonly employ behavioural tests to assess pattern separation abilities in humans and rats. These tasks involve the discrimination of spatial or visual cues. A range of behavioural tasks have been used to study memory dependent on pattern separation in rodents: appetitive delayed match-to-sample task (Gilbert et al., 1998), automated touchscreen tests such as the location discrimination task (McTighe et al., 2009) and trial-unique nonmatching-to-location (TUNL) (Talpos et al., 2010; Oomen et al., 2013), contextual fear conditioning (Tronel et al., 2012), naturalistic tasks such as Y-maze recognition task (Dellu et al., 1992) and spontaneous location recognition (SLR) task (Reichelt et al., 2021). The premise behind these behavioural tasks is that the ability to distinguish between similar contexts, locations, or events relies on the formation of memory representations following effective pattern separation. However, utilizing naturalistic tasks that leverage rodents' inherent preference for novelty helps circumvent potential issues related to changes in motivation or aversive learning (Reichelt et al., 2021). Moreover, naturalistic tasks do not need extensive training as they do not involve conditioned learning. While tasks such as TUNL allow for precise manipulation of similarity between locations, the Y-maze task also offers a way to vary "overlap" between the spatial locations to test pattern separation. Specifically, the Y-maze can be adjusted by altering the degree of novelty associated with each arm. In essence, the Y-maze task tests the rodent's ability to separate overlapping spatial representations, which is a core function of the DG. The flexibility of the task allows for different levels of spatial or temporal overlap to be introduced, depending on the specific experimental design. Conrad et al. (1996) used the Y-maze for assessing spatial memory and showed its sensitivity to region specific hippocampal damage. In their study, Conrad and colleagues demonstrated that chronic stress impaired spatial memory performance in the Y-maze, highlighting the task's sensitivity to alterations in hippocampal function, particularly in the DG. Similarly, Walling et al. (2016) examined the effects of prolonged administration of norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (NRIs) on hippocampal function, particularly in the DG, and showed how these changes impacted spatial and object recognition memory tasks. Their study found that prolonged NRI administration impaired LTP in the DG, which is a critical mechanism underlying memory formation. This impairment was associated with deficits in spatial memory tasks, including the Y-maze. Walling et al.'s findings reinforce the idea that the Y-maze is a reliable test for detecting changes in hippocampal function, particularly those affecting the DG and processes like pattern separation.

Other Factors Affecting Behavioural Performance

Factors such as genetic differences among different strains of rats, context of behavioural tasks, environmental enrichment, and housing conditions could contribute to variations in cognitive performance in behavioural tasks (Reichelt et al., 2021). As evidence, in the SLR task, female Sprague-Dawley rats show reduced performance in the similar SLR task compared with male Sprague-Dawley rats; while female Long Evans rats perform at a level similar to that of males (Buyukata et al., 2018). In addition, age-related cognitive decline in Wistar rats depends on the sex of the animal as well as on the context of the behavioural task (Zhvania et al., 2021).

Considering findings of previous studies, the objective of the current study was to examine 1- The potential interaction effects of age and sex in pattern separation tests, 2- How age and sex influence behavioural performance during spatial separation tasks in rats and 3- How these factors may be impacted by spatial properties of the testing environment. We assessed performance of male and female rats at two different ages (4-5 months versus 14-15 months) on a series of pattern separation tasks. We hypothesized that there will be a difference between behavioural performance of male and female Sprague-Dawley rats in young and old ages.

Material and Methods

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. The protocol was approved by Memorial University's Animal Care Committee (19-01-SW).

Subjects

Fifty young (4-5 months) and aged (14-15months) male and female Sprague-Dawley rats were housed at the animal care facility of the Psychology department. They were given limited access (20 mg for male and 15 mg for female rats per day) to laboratory animal feed (Teklad

Global 18% Protein, Rodent Diet) and ad libitum water. Food restriction to 75% of normal free feed consumption was used to promote healthy weight maintenance in aging rats and to encourage exploration and locomotion in subjects. Each rat was housed individually in transparent individually ventilated cages filled with corncob bedding under controlled environmental conditions, with a temperature of 22°C and a reversed 12:12 h light-dark cycle (lights off from 7:00 am to 7:00 pm) to align their active periods with testing times. Rats were divided into four groups based on age and sex—old male, old female, young male, young female—with 13 animals in each old group and 12 in each young group. To acclimate them to handling and experimental procedures, all subjects were handled daily by the experimenter for two weeks before behavioural testing began. All testing occurred under dim illumination between 9:00 am and 3:00 pm during the dark phase of their light-dark schedule.

Apparatus and Procedure

All rats were tested on three pattern separation tasks that involved discriminating between similar spatial or visual cues: the Y maze spatial task, the SLR task in a circular arena and the SLR task in a square arena.

Y-maze Spatial Task

The first experimental test comprised a Y-maze, with three arms of equal length positioned at 120-degree angles to each other. The apparatus was made of black plastic, each arm was 50 cm long and 17 cm wide and 32 cm high. The floor of the maze was covered with blue children's play sand. After each trial, the sand was mixed, and the maze was cleaned in order to reduce tracking of olfactory stimuli. The maze was placed in a quiet room under dim illumination with low-level background music. Four monochromatic visual cues were placed on the white curtain surrounding the maze and were kept constant during behavioural testing. All rats were transferred to the test room at least half an hour earlier to habituate to the room prior to testing. The Y maze spatial test consisted of two trials. In the exploration trial (10 min), the access to one of the three arms was restricted by a removable barrier. The arms were counterbalanced such that each of the three arms were used as start, familiar and novel. The direction of the novel arm was at the left of the start arm for half of animals and at the right for the other half.

During the exploration trial rats were placed in start arm with their head oriented in the opposite direction to the center of the maze, and they were allowed to visit the two open arms. During the test trial, performed 24 hours later, the rats were returned to the maze for 5 min and all three arms were accessible to explore. EthoVision XT 14 video tracking software (Noldus, USA) was used to track and analyze the duration and frequency of visits to each arm every minute. One young and one old male animal were excluded from the study because they did not leave the start arm during the first two minutes of the test. For analysis, an entry into an arm was defined as the center of the animal's body crossing a line 15 cm into the arm. Multiple measures were analyzed for the first three min of the test trial including distance, percent entries to each arm, percent time spent in each arm, first choice arm and discrimination ratio (% time spent in novel arm/total time spent in novel and familiar arms).

Established research suggests that rodents' exploratory behavior, including their preference for novel arms or objects, tends to be most robust during the initial phases of a test session (Ennaceur & Delacour, 1988). In our study, the first three minutes of the test trial were chosen for analysis to capture the period when the animals are most actively engaged in exploratory behavior. By focusing on this initial period, we aimed to minimize the effects of habituation or fatigue that can occur if the test is extended beyond this point. Additionally, previous work, including studies using Y-maze and spontaneous location recognition (SLR) tasks, often focuses on the initial minutes of testing to ensure that data reflect the rats' natural exploratory tendencies and their immediate responses to novelty (Dellu et al., 1992; Reichelt et al., 2021). Moreover, the first three minutes allow us to capture the peak period of decision-making and memory retrieval processes in the task, providing a more accurate measure of pattern separation abilities without confounding effects that could emerge later in the trial.



Figure 1. Y-maze apparatus. This picture shows one of subjects exploring arms in exposure (A) and test (B) trials. In exposure trial novel arm (arm 1) is closed.

Spontaneous Location recognition (SLR) Task

The second experimental test comprised the spontaneous location recognition (SLR) task which was conducted using both dissimilar (DSLR) and similar (SSLR) configurations. This memory task involved two phases and evaluates the ability of animals to distinguish and recall the locations of objects introduced in the exposure phase. By employing two task configurations, the degree of similarity in the locations to be remembered can be systematically adjusted. This is achieved by changing the spatial positions of objects, creating scenarios with varying levels of dissimilarity or similarity, thereby altering the demand on pattern separation. A circular open field arena with dimensions of 90 cm diameter and 45 cm high walls, constructed of black plastic was used in the first test. The arena was divided into 36 equal segments separated by a 10° angle. The floor of the arena was covered with corncob bedding to hide the location labels marked on the arena floor. The protocol used here was previously documented (Bekinschtein et al., 2013; Kent et al., 2015). Here, as the results of the SLR tests conducted in the circular arena did not replicate the results reported in Bekinschtein's paper, both the DSLR and SSLR tests were repeated in a square open field arena with minor modification, e.g. corncob bedding was not used on the floor of the arena, instead the maze was cleaned with 10% ethanol between subjects, and objects used during these tests differed from those used during the circular maze tests. The black, plastic square arena dimensions were 100 cm x 100 cm and wall heights of 35 cm.

Procedure: All subjects were habituated to the testing room for 30 min to reduce stress prior to undergoing behavioural assessments. The testing space containing the open field arena was surrounded by black and white curtains and four large high-contrast spatial cues were attached to the curtains in a location high enough to be seen above the maze walls. Low-level background music was played to reduce the impact of uncontrollable noises.

Habituation: Rats were habituated to the SLR arena for 10 min on three consecutive days.

Sample phase: During the sample phase, rats explored the arena containing identical landmarks in three locations arranged in a triangular formation for 10 minutes. The objects included tall glass bottles filled with green sand, tall 720 ml plastic sprayer bottles filled with purple sand, tall glass candlesticks filled with blue sand and 355 ml Pepsi cola cans.

Test trial: In the test phase, conducted 24 h after sample phase, only two of the three previously explored items were placed back into the arena 1) one object was placed in the same location as the sample phase (Object A) and 2) one object (Object B) was placed in the location

that would be the midway between the positions of Object B and Object C during the sample phase. (see Figure 2 for example of DSLR and SSLR configurations).

Using two configurations of the task, the similarity of the to-be-remembered locations was manipulated by altering the spatial positions of objects. The DSLR refers to dissimilar configuration in which the objects B and C are maximally (120° angle from the centre of arena) separated. The SSLR task, which was conducted 72 h after DSLR, refers to similar configuration of the task in which the objects B and C had a smaller separation (50° angle from the centre of arena). The novel locations of objects used in each test were counterbalanced for animals to reduce potential biases due to directional preferences or subtle changes in maze characteristics (lighting or sound). Four different set of three identical objects were used for each test configuration to keep the rats interested in the objects across multiple tests. Between each round of testing for individual animals, one scoop of the bedding in the arena was taken out and replaced with a fresh scoop of clean corncob to spread out any odors and avoid olfactory traces. In addition, after completing the day's testing for males, half of the corncob was removed and replaced with clean bedding to test females. Also, between each animal's test, both the arena's walls and objects were cleaned using paper towels and a 10% ethanol solution. All walls were cleaned with a 50% ethanol solution between males and females' tests. In the square arena, where bedding was not utilized, both the walls and the arena floor were cleaned with a 10% ethanol solution and thoroughly dried between testing sessions for each animal.

The behavioural tests were video recorded by a camera installed on top of arenas, and the data scored using BORIS v.713.7 software (Friard & Gamba, 2016). Total sample exploration and total test exploration were calculated. A discrimination index or D-ratio, which is the proportion of total exploration time spent exploring the novel object for each pair of objects, was calculated

using this formula: time (novel) – time (familiar) / time (novel + familiar). Two male rats that did not reach the criterion for exploring objects were excluded from the study (one old and one young). These criteria encompass animals that either interacted with just one or two objects during the sample phase or refrained from exploring objects altogether, instead staying at the periphery of the arena during both sample and test phases.



Figure 2. SLR Task apparatus. 1. A subject exploring circular arena containing three similar objects in sample phase and two objects in test phase of DSLR task. Objects B and C are separated 120° angle from the centre of arena and 15 cm from the arena's wall 2. A subject exploring circular arena containing three similar objects in sample phase and two objects in test phase of SSLR task. Objects B and C are separated 50° angle from the centre of arena and 15 cm from the arena's wall 3. One of subjects exploring square arena containing three similar objects in test phase of DSLR task. Objects B and C are separated 50° angle from the centre of arena and 15 cm from the arena's wall 3. One of subjects exploring square arena containing three similar objects in sample phase and two objects in test phase of DSLR task. Objects B and C are around 50 cm apart from each other and 25 cm from the arena's wall 4. One of subjects exploring square arena containing three similar objects in test phase of SSLR task. Objects B and C are around 30 cm apart from each other and 25 cm from the arena's wall 4. One of subjects B and C are around 30 cm apart from each other and 35 cm from the arena's wall.

Data Analysis: The statistical analysis was conducted using GraphPad Prism 9.4.0 and Jamovi 2.3.2 software. The data were subjected to factorial and repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). If a significant difference was found, pair-wise comparisons were done using the Tukey post-hoc test. The data are presented as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), and statistical significance was determined at p <0.05.

Results

Assessment of the Effects of Age and Sex in the Two-Trial Spatial Y-maze Task

Five variables including total distance, percent entries to the arms, percent time spent in each arm and the discrimination ratios were calculated and analyzed (ANOVA). The distance variable revealed that although there was no overall main effect for age and no interaction effect, there was a main effect for sex (F(1,44) = 13.98, p<.001). Tukey post hoc analysis showed females were more active based on the total distance travelled in the maze regardless of age (Fig 3A). There were no overall main and interaction effect for age and sex in the percent of entries to the arms during the test trial. However, percent of entries to the novel arm were significantly higher than familiar arm in all groups (F(1,44) = 37.12, p<.001) (Fig 3 B). Regarding the time spent in each arm, there were an interaction effect for arm and sex (F(1,44) = 11.44, p = .002) and a main effect for age (F(1,44) = 14.42, p <.001). The post hoc analysis revealed that female rats spent significantly more time in the novel arm compared to familiar arm and compared to the time males spent in the novel arm. Also, young rats (mean=33.93±9.361) spent more time in the novel arm than old rats (mean=29.32±10.350) (Fig 3 C). No significant difference was found between groups in the D-ratio (F(1,44) = 7.897, 2.488, 0.557 for sex, age and interaction effect respectively, p >0.05) (Fig 3 D). The data are presented as the mean \pm SEM, and statistical significance was determined at p < 0.05.



Figure 3. Y-maze task. We conducted a 2(sex) X 2(age) X 2(arm) ANOVA to test if there were any effects of these factors on the rats' function in Y-maze. A. Although there was no overall main effect for age and no interaction of age and sex, there was an effect for sex. Tukey post hoc analysis showed females travelled a greater distance than males regardless of age. B. There were no overall main and interaction effect for age and sex in the percent of entries to the arms during the test trial. Percent of entries to the novel arm were significantly higher than familiar arm in all groups. C. There were a main effect for age and an interaction effect for arm and sex. Female rats spent significantly more time in the novel arm compared to familiar arm and compared to the time males spent in the novel arm. Also, young rats spent more time in the novel arm than old rats. % time spent in start arm have not been shown. D. there was no significance was determined at p < 0.05. Number of animals per group: young male (n=11), young female (n=12), old male (n=12), old female (n=13).

Assessment of the Effects of Age and Sex in the Circular SLR Task

The SLR task was performed in two distinct arenas (circular and square) and two configurations (dissimilar and similar), equalling four, two-trial tests. In each SLR task, two parameters of exploration time and discrimination performance were calculated and analyzed. Exploration time refers to the time spent exploring during both the sample and test phases. In the sample phase, exploration times for each of the three objects are denoted as object '1', '2', and '3'. During the test phase, exploration times for the familiar and novel object locations are labeled 'familiar' and 'novel' respectively. Key variables derived from these exploration times include total sample exploration, total test exploration, and the discrimination ratio.

In Circular SLR task, we conducted a 2(sex) X 2(age) X 3(object) ANOVA to test effects of these factors on the rats' exploration in the sample phase of SLR task. During the sample phase of DSLR and SSLR task, there were no overall main and interaction effect for objects, age and sex. Animals showed equal exploration of each of the objects and no significant age and sex differences were found (p > 0.05) (Fig 4 A and C). During the test phase, discrimination ratios were not significantly different where none of the groups demonstrated a preference for the object in the novel or familiar locations in either the DSLR or SSLR task on circular open field arenas (p > 0.05) (Fig 4 B & D). However, the p values for main effect of age and interaction effect of sex and age (0.08 and 0.059 respectively) showed a marginal and trending values toward the significant. The data are presented as the mean ± SEM, and statistical significance was determined at p < 0.05.



Figure 4. Circular SLR task. A & C. We conducted a 2(sex) X 2(age) X 3(object) ANOVA to test if there were any effects of these factors on the rats' exploration in sample phase of SLR task. There were no overall main and interaction effect for objects, age and sex. During the sample phase of DSLR and SSLR task, animals showed equal exploration of each of the objects and no significant age and sex difference were found. B & D. During the test phase, discrimination ratios were not significantly different and did not show any preference for novel or familiar location in either the DSLR or SSLR task on circular open field arenas. The data are presented as the mean \pm SEM, and statistical significance was determined at p < 0.05. Number of animals per group: young male (n=12), young female (n=12), old male (n=11), old female (n=12).

Assessment of the Effects of Age and Sex in the Square SLR Task

In the square SLR task, we conducted a 2(sex) X 2(age) X 3(object) ANOVA to determine if there were any effects of these factors on the rats' exploration of objects in sample phase of SLR task. During the sample phase of DSLR and SSLR task, there were no overall main and interaction effect for objects, age and sex. Animals showed equal exploration of each of the objects and no significant age and sex differences were found (p > 0.05) (Fig 5A and 5C). In the test phase of DSLR, we conducted a 2(sex) X 2(age) ANOVA to determine if there were any effects of these factors on the rats' discrimination ratios in test phase of SLR task. We found a main effect for age (F(1,40)=27.27, p<.001) and sex (F(1,40)=4.97, p=.03). However, there was no significant interaction effect for these two factors (p > 0.05; see Fig. 5B). Post hoc analyses revealed that in the DSLR the D-ratio for the young rats was higher than that for the old rats (Mean: 0.333±0.226, and -0.240±0.513 respectively, p<.001). Female rats also had comparatively higher D-ratios than male rats (Mean: 0.177±0.416, and -0.042±0.521 respectively, p=.03). We conducted the same analysis in the test phase of SSLR and found that Discrimination ratios were not significantly different in test phase and did not show any preference for novel or familiar location in SSLR task on square open field arenas (p > 0.05) (Fig 5 D).

DSLR2 (D-Ratio)



Figure 5. Square SLR task. A & C. A 2(sex) X 2(age) X 3(object) ANOVA was used to assess the effects of these factors on the rats' exploration in sample phase of SLR task. There were no overall main and interaction effect for objects, age and sex. During the sample phase of DSLR task, animals showed equal exploration of each of the objects and no significant age and sex difference were found. B. A 2(sex) X 2(age) ANOVA was done to determine if there were any effects of these factors on the rats' Discrimination ratios in test phase of SLR task. There was a main effect for age (p<.001) and sex (p=.03). However, there was no significant interaction effect for these 2 factors (p > 0.05). The young rats had significantly higher D-ratios in comparison to old rats. Moreover, female rats had higher D-ratios in

contrast to the males. D. The same analysis in the test phase of SSLR showed that Discrimination ratios were not significantly different in test phase and did not show any preference for novel or familiar location in SSLR task on square open field arenas (p > 0.05). The data are presented as the mean \pm SEM, and statistical significance was determined at p < 0.05. Number of animals per group: young male (n=12), young female (n=12), old male (n=11), old female (n=12).

Discussion

The primary objective of this study was to investigate age and sex differences in the pattern separation abilities of Sprague Dawley rats using two two-trial spatial memory tests of pattern separation: the Y-maze and the SLR tasks. Young (4-5 months) and relatively old (14-15 months) male and female rats were subjected to behavioural tests. Although significant age and sex differences were found in some parameters, the results did not fully support our initial hypotheses in either task or across the different experimental setups. Specifically, the data supported the hypothesis that female rats exhibit higher activity levels and a preference for the novel arm in the Y-maze. However, contrary to our expectations, there was no significant age or sex related decline in pattern separation abilities as measured by the discrimination ratios in the Y-maze task. Moreover, the anticipated sex and age differences in pattern separation were not observed in SLR tasks except in square DSLR test in which young rats and female rats had higher D-ratios. Moreover we did not find any interaction effect of age and sex in pattern separation abilities as measured by the discrimination ratios in the tasks.

Effects of Age and Sex on Memory for a Two-Trial Non-Aversive Spatial Y-Maze

In the spatial Y-maze test, female rats demonstrated increased activity and a preference for the novel arm, a finding consistent with earlier research by (Conrad et al., 2003), who reported sex differences in spatial and non-spatial Y-maze performance after chronic stress in male and female Sprague–Dawley rats, suggesting a sex-dependent variation in novelty-seeking behavior. Additionally, Dellu et al. (1992) found that spatial memory can be influenced by the inter-trial interval and age. They used two-month-old and eighteen-month-old male Sprague-Dawley rats in a two-trial Y-maze memory task with five different retention times (30 min, 2, 4, 6 and 24 h) and found that in 2-month-old rats, total number and duration of visits to the novel arm were significantly higher for the first 4 inter-trial intervals while at the 24 h interval, there was no longer any difference between the number and duration of visits to the novel arm and the other arms. Impaired recognition was also detected in 18-months-old rats so that there was no significant difference between the duration of visits to three arms for all intervals and the number of novel arm visits was higher only in 30 min interval. Our study found no age-related differences in the discrimination ratio parameter among the rats. This discrepancy may be attributed to differences in the number of subjects or age ranges which were not identical to those in the Dellu et al. study or long inter-trial interval which was reported by Dellu et al (1992).

Effects of Age and Sex on Memory for Two Versions of the SLR

In the initial SLR tests conducted in circular arenas, discrimination ratios did not significantly differ, and rats showed no clear preference for novel or familiar object locations in either the DSLR or SSLR task. Considering the results of DSLR in circular arena was marginal and trending toward significant and for further investigation, we replicated the study in square arenas as reported by Omoluabi et al. (2021). In square arena, young female and male rats (combined) exhibited higher discrimination ratios in the DSLR task, which involved a dissimilar configuration of the test. However, similar to the circular arenas, discrimination ratios in the SSLR task remained unremarkable, showing no preference for novel or familiar locations.

Canatelli-Mallat et al. (2022) evaluated the ability of young, middle-aged, and senile female Sprague-Dawley rats to retain 24 h long-term recognition memory. In the SLR task, there was a markedly diminished novel discrimination capacity in the middle- and old- age rats compared with the young ones. Saucier et al. (2007) also investigated Long-Evans rats' performance on a task of object location memory and in a spatial water maze task. Rats were housed in either complex environments or in standard shoebox housing. The results indicated that females outperform males on the object location recognition task and males outperform females on the Morris water maze regardless of housing environment. These findings suggest that sex differences in memory tasks are task-specific. Additionally, the study found that environmental enrichment played a significant role in enhancing memory for object location for both sexes, although it did not alter the relative performance differences between males and females on the Morris water maze task. On the other hand, the improvement in the DSLR task in square arenas might reflect the influence of environmental geometry on spatial memory and discrimination. Qi et al. (2015) found that environmental factors, such as the shape and size of the testing arena, could significantly influence spatial memory outcomes. Specifically, they noted that environmental geometry could affect how animals encode and retrieve spatial information. In square arenas, the uniformity and symmetry may provide consistent spatial cues that enhance the ability to discriminate between different locations, thereby improving pattern separation performance. Moreover, the use of a square arena might reduce the complexity of spatial cues compared to irregularly shaped environments, making it easier for rats to form distinct and non-overlapping memory representations. This could explain why rats perform better on spatial tasks in such controlled settings. The findings by Qi et al. (2015) emphasize the importance of considering environmental geometry in experimental design, as it can profoundly impact the interpretation of cognitive abilities such as spatial memory and pattern separation.

Factors to consider when interpreting results

The absence of significant age effects in the performance of the rats suggests that pattern separation abilities may not undergo substantial changes throughout the lifespan of Sprague-Dawley rats, at least within the ages examined in this study. This finding contradicts previous studies which have reported age-related declines in cognitive functions in rodents, including aspects of spatial memory and pattern separation (Gallagher & Nicolle, 1993; Kuhn et al., 1996). It is possible that the age range selected for this study did not capture the critical period of cognitive decline, or that other factors not investigated here may contribute to age-related changes in pattern separation abilities. Gallagher and Nicolle, (1993) utilized rats aged 24 months, which represents a more advanced stage of aging compared to the 14-15 months old rats in our study. Their research highlighted declines in hippocampal-dependent tasks, implicating more severe aging effects that might not be evident in the younger old rats used in our study. Kuhn et al. (1996) focused on a variety of behavioural tasks, including the Morris water maze, which might stress different aspects of cognitive function than the Y-maze and SLR tasks employed in our research. Their study also examined neurobiological markers of aging, such as decreased hippocampal neurogenesis and increased synaptic dysfunction, which are factors that could significantly affect cognitive performance and might not have been fully manifest in the age groups we examined.

Our study employed the Y-maze and SLR tasks, designed to assess spatial memory and the ability to distinguish between similar locations. These tasks test the cognitive abilities without the stress of aversive stimuli or the motivation for reward which can affect performance and might explain some discrepancies between studies that use stress- or reward- inducing methods. Moreover, some other key factors might explain why our findings differ from previous studies. Several methodological factors should be considered when interpreting the results of this study.

Firstly, while Y-maze and SLR tasks are commonly used to assess spatial memory and pattern separation abilities in rodents, they may not fully capture the complexity of these cognitive processes such as higher-order decision making, long-term memory retention, and associative learning. For example, the Y-maze primarily tests the ability to remember and distinguish between different arms based on spatial cues, which might not involve complex problem-solving or the integration of varied sensory inputs that animals encounter in more naturalistic settings. Similarly, SLR tasks focus on the ability to recognize changes in the location of objects, which does not necessarily engage cognitive domains such as emotional memory or tasks that require the synthesis of contextual information. Additionally, variations in the configuration and size of the arenas, type of objects, number of subjects and their ages used in this study may have influenced the mean rats' performance, and future research could systematically investigate the impact of such factors on pattern separation abilities. For example, the objects used in the SLR tasks in this study may not be distinctive enough to achieve significant results. Additionally, optimal intervals should allow for the consolidation of memory without leading to significant forgetting, typically ranging from several hours to a day, depending on the complexity of the task (Barker & Warburton, 2011).

Variations in environmental enrichment, diet, and overall laboratory conditions can influence cognitive function and neuronal health. Studies have shown that rodents housed in enriched environments exhibit enhanced neurogenesis and improved performance in memory tasks, suggesting that environmental complexity can positively influence brain plasticity and cognitive abilities (e.g., Kempermann et al., 1997).

Moreover, different strains of rats (e.g. Sprague-Dawley) may exhibit varying degrees of cognitive resilience or decline, which might not have been accounted for in comparative studies. Genetic variability can significantly influence the cognitive trajectory of an organism. Owen et al.

(2005) have demonstrated that certain gene polymorphisms are associated with variations in spatial memory and hippocampal structure in mice, suggesting a genetic predisposition to different cognitive outcomes.

Our study did not directly assess cellular and molecular changes such as changes in hippocampal structure and function, neuronal loss and alterations in synaptic plasticity which might explain why we observed no significant age effects within the parameters tested. Future work could benefit from integrating cellular and molecular analyses to better understand the underlying mechanisms that support or impair pattern separation in different ages and sexes.

Furthermore, we did not investigate hormonal levels and potential changes in hormonal receptors. The role of hormones such as estrogen and testosterone in cognitive functions has been explored by Galea et al. (2008), who found that fluctuations in hormone levels affect hippocampal-dependent memory tasks differently in male and female rodents, impacting their spatial memory and pattern separation abilities.

While the Y-maze and SLR tasks are generally adequate for studying pattern separation, the specific configurations of these tasks in terms of object selection and testing intervals need careful consideration to accurately assess age and sex differences in pattern separation abilities. The differences in findings between our study and previous research may stem from variations in methodology, test conditions, and the specific ages and biological conditions of the subjects. A comprehensive approach that includes both behavioural assessments and cellular-level investigations might provide a more complete picture of how and why cognitive functions change with age/sex differences in Sprague-Dawley rats.

Implications and Future Directions

The findings of this study contribute to our relative understanding of the factors influencing pattern separation abilities in Sprauge Dawley rats. Future research could explore additional factors that may modulate cognitive functions in rodents, such as environmental enrichment, hormonal influences, or genetic factors. Moreover, investigating the neural substrates underlying pattern separation abilities using techniques such as neuroimaging or neurophysiological recordings in both humans and rodents could provide further insights into the mechanisms governing these cognitive processes.

Extending stimuli beyond the visual or spatial domain to other dimensions (e.g., odor for rodents or verbal stimuli for humans) will provide greater insights into information processing both within and outside the hippocampal regions. Also, tests such as the Continuous Recognition Memory (CRM) task, which has been adapted for rodents to assess their ability to distinguish between similar and identical objects over continuous trials, could be insightful. This test, as modified by Barker & and Warburton (2011), can more directly measure pattern separation by challenging the animals' memory across a gradient of similarity.

Future studies using targeted behavioural tests of pattern separation coupled with imaging or electrophysiological techniques will elucidate important links between DG and pattern separation. To better understand the physiological changes that occur in the brain during aging or between sexes, it would be beneficial to integrate longitudinal studies that track hormonal levels, synaptic plasticity, and neural circuitry changes over time.

Finally, it is vital to understand which types of treatments may be more beneficial for men versus women in combating neurodegenerative diseases and age-related cognitive decline. So, it is important to study the age and sex differences in pattern separation abilities in the context of neurodegenerative models and experimental manipulations.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study did not find significant age or sex differences in the pattern separation abilities of Sprauge-Dawley rats across various experimental conditions. While these results may challenge prevailing assumptions about age and sex effects on cognitive functions in rodents, they underscore the complexity of pattern separation processes and highlight the need for further research to elucidate the factors influencing these abilities.

Summary

The overall findings of this work underscore that while significant age and sex effects on pattern separation were not observed within the studied parameters, this does not negate the possibility that such influences exist but may be modulated by external factors like environment, hormonal levels, and genetic makeup. This suggests that cognitive functions are complex and influenced by a myriad of factors that require a multifaceted approach to fully understand. Future research should thus not only replicate and expand on these findings but also incorporate broader biological and environmental variables to paint a more complete picture of cognitive aging and sex differences.

References

- Amaral, D. G., & Witter, M. P. (1989). The three-dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: A review of anatomical data. *Neuroscience*, 31(3), 571–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(89)90424-7
- Andreano, J. M., & Cahill, L. (2009). Sex influences on the neurobiology of learning and memory. *Learning & Memory*, 16(4), 248–266. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.918309

- Antunes, M., & Biala, G. (2012). The novel object recognition memory: neurobiology, test procedure, and its modifications. *Cognitive Processing*, 13(2), 93–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-011-0430-z
- Barker, G. R. I., & Warburton, E. C. (2011). When Is the Hippocampus Involved in Recognition Memory? *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(29), 10721–10731. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6413-10.2011
- Bekinschtein, P., Kent, B. A., Oomen, C. A., Clemenson, G. D., Gage, F. H., Saksida, L. M., & Bussey, T. J. (2013). BDNF in the Dentate Gyrus Is Required for Consolidation of "Pattern-Separated" Memories. *Cell Reports*, 5(3), 759–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.027
- Brinton, R. D. (2009). Estrogen-induced plasticity from cells to circuits: predictions for cognitive function. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 30(4), 212–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2008.12.006
- Buyukata, C., Vukalo, M., Xu, T. J., Khore, M. A., & Reichelt, A. C. (2018). Impact of high sucrose diets on the discrimination of spatial and object memories with overlapping features. *Physiology & Behavior*, 192, 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.02.027
- Canada, K. L., Ngo, C. T., Newcombe, N. S., Geng, F., & Riggins, T. (2019). It's All in the Details:
 Relations Between Young Children's Developing Pattern Separation Abilities and
 Hippocampal Subfield Volumes. *Cerebral Cortex*, 29(8), 3427–3433.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy211
- Canatelli-Mallat, M., Chiavellini, P., Lehmann, M., Goya, R. G., & Morel, G. R. (2022). Agerelated loss of recognition memory and its correlation with hippocampal and perirhinal cortex changes in female Sprague Dawley rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 435, 114026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2022.114026
- Cleal, M., Fontana, B. D., Ranson, D. C., McBride, S. D., Swinny, J. D., Redhead, E. S., & Parker, M. O. (2021). The Free-movement pattern Y-maze: A cross-species measure of working memory and executive function. *Behavior Research Methods*, 53(2), 536–557. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-020-01452-x
- Conrad, C. D., Galea, L. A., Kuroda, Y., & McEwen, B. S. (1996). Chronic stress impairs rat spatial memory on the Y maze, and this effect is blocked by tianeptine pretreatment.

Behavioral Neuroscience, 110(6), 1321–1334. https://doi.org/10.1037//0735-7044.110.6.1321

- Conrad, C. D., Grote, K. A., Hobbs, R. J., & Ferayorni, A. (2003). Sex differences in spatial and non-spatial Y-maze performance after chronic stress. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 79(1), 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7427(02)00018-7
- Dellu, F., Mayo, W., Cherkaoui, J., Le Moal, M., & Simon, H. (1992). A two-trial memory task with automated recording: study in young and aged rats. *Brain Research*, 588(1), 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(92)91352-F
- Ding, S., & Van Hoesen, G. W. (2015). Organization and detailed parcellation of human hippocampal head and body regions based on a combined analysis of Cyto- and chemoarchitecture. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 523(15), 2233–2253. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23786
- Dolorfo, C. L., & Amaral, D. G. (1998). Entorhinal cortex of the rat: topographic organization of the cells of origin of the perforant path projection to the dentate gyrus. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 398(1), 25–48.
- Eichenbaum, H. (2000). A cortical-hippocampal system for declarative memory. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 1(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/35036213
- Ennaceur, A., & Delacour, J. (1988). A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats.
 1: Behavioral data. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 31(1), 47–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(88)90157-x
- Fitch, J. M., Juraska, J. M., & Washington, L. W. (1989). The dendritic morphology of pyramidal neurons in the rat hippocampal CA3 area. I. Cell types. *Brain Research*, 479(1), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(89)91340-1
- Friard, O., & Gamba, M. (2016). <scp>BORIS</scp>: a free, versatile open-source event-logging software for video/audio coding and live observations. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(11), 1325–1330. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12584
- Frick, K. M. (2009). Estrogens and age-related memory decline in rodents: What have we learned and where do we go from here? *Hormones and Behavior*, 55(1), 2–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.08.015

- Galea, L. A. M., Spritzer, M. D., Barker, J. M., & Pawluski, J. L. (2006). Gonadal hormone modulation of hippocampal neurogenesis in the adult. *Hippocampus*, 16(3), 225–232. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20154
- Galea, L. A. M., Uban, K. A., Epp, J. R., Brummelte, S., Barha, C. K., Wilson, W. L., Lieblich, S. E., & Pawluski, J. L. (2008). Endocrine regulation of cognition and neuroplasticity: Our pursuit to unveil the complex interaction between hormones, the brain, and behaviour. *Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology / Revue Canadienne de Psychologie Expérimentale*, 62(4), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014501
- Gallagher, M., Burwell, R., & Burchinal, M. (2015). Severity of spatial learning impairment in aging: Development of a learning index for performance in the Morris water maze. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 129(4), 540–548. https://doi.org/10.1037/bne0000080
- Gallagher, M., & Nicolle, M. M. (1993). Animal models of normal aging: Relationship between cognitive decline and markers in hippocampal circuitry. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 57(2), 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-4328(93)90131-9
- Gilbert, P. E., Kesner, R. P., & DeCoteau, W. E. (1998). Memory for Spatial Location: Role of the Hippocampus in Mediating Spatial Pattern Separation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(2), 804–810. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-02-00804.1998
- Hafting, T., Fyhn, M., Molden, S., Moser, M.-B., & Moser, E. I. (2005). Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. *Nature*, 436(7052), 801–806. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03721
- Hampson, E., Levy-Cooperman, N., & Korman, J. M. (2014). Estradiol and mental rotation: Relation to dimensionality, difficulty, or angular disparity? *Hormones and Behavior*, 65(3), 238–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.12.016
- Hillerer, K. M., Neumann, I. D., Couillard-Despres, S., Aigner, L., & Slattery, D. A. (2013). Sexdependent regulation of hippocampal neurogenesis under basal and chronic stress conditions in rats. *Hippocampus*, 23(6), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22107
- Holden, H. M., & Gilbert, P. E. (2012). Less efficient pattern separation may contribute to agerelated spatial memory deficits. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2012.00009

- Holden, H. M., Hoebel, C., Loftis, K., & Gilbert, P. E. (2012). Spatial pattern separation in cognitively normal young and older adults. *Hippocampus*, 22(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22017
- Janowsky, J. S. (2006). The role of androgens in cognition and brain aging in men. *Neuroscience*, *138*(3), 1015–1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.09.007
- Jockwitz, C., Wiersch, L., Stumme, J., & Caspers, S. (2021). Cognitive profiles in older males and females. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 6524. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84134-8
- Jonasson, Z. (2005). Meta-analysis of sex differences in rodent models of learning and memory: a review of behavioral and biological data. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 28(8), 811–825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.10.006
- Kalil, K. (1981). Projections of the cerebellar and dorsal column nuclei upon the thalamus of the rhesus monkey. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 195(1), 25–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901950105
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H. G., & Gage, F. H. (1997). More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. *Nature*, 386(6624), 493–495. https://doi.org/10.1038/386493a0
- Kent, B. A., Beynon, A. L., Hornsby, A. K. E., Bekinschtein, P., Bussey, T. J., Davies, J. S., & Saksida, L. M. (2015). The orexigenic hormone acyl-ghrelin increases adult hippocampal neurogenesis and enhances pattern separation. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 51, 431–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.10.015
- Kesner, R. P., & Rolls, E. T. (2015). A computational theory of hippocampal function, and tests of the theory: New developments. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 48, 92–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.11.009
- Kight, K. E., & McCarthy, M. M. (2020). Androgens and the developing hippocampus. *Biology of Sex Differences*, 11(1), 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-020-00307-6
- Knierim, J. J. (2015). The hippocampus. *Current Biology*, 25(23). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.10.049
- Knierim, J. J., Neunuebel, J. P., & Deshmukh, S. S. (2014). Functional correlates of the lateral and medial entorhinal cortex: objects, path integration and local–global reference frames. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 369(1635), 20130369. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0369

- Kuhn, H., Dickinson-Anson, H., & Gage, F. (1996). Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *16*(6), 2027–2033. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-06-02027.1996
- Leal, S. L., Noche, J. A., Murray, E. A., & Yassa, M. A. (2017). Age-related individual variability in memory performance is associated with amygdala-hippocampal circuit function and emotional pattern separation. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.08.018
- Lorente De Nó, R. (1934). Studies on the structure of the cerebral cortex. II. Continuation of the study of the ammonic system. Journal für Psychologie und Neurologie. *Journal Für Psychologie Und Neurologie*, *46*, 113–177.
- Marr D. (1971). Simple memory: a theory for archicortex. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal* Society of London. B, Biological Sciences, 262(841), 23–81. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.1971.0078
- McClelland, J. L., McNaughton, B. L., & O'Reilly, R. C. (1995). Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: Insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychological Review*, 102(3), 419–457. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.102.3.419
- McNaughton, B. L., & Morris, R. G. M. (1987). Hippocampal synaptic enhancement and information storage within a distributed memory system. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 10(10), 408–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/0166-2236(87)90011-7
- McTighe, S. M., Mar, A. C., Romberg, C., Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2009). A new touchscreen test of pattern separation: effect of hippocampal lesions. *NeuroReport*, 20(9), 881–885. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e32832c5eb2
- Meneghetti, C., Pazzaglia, F., & De Beni, R. (2012). Which spatial abilities and strategies predict males' and females' performance in the object perspective test? *Cognitive Processing*, 13(S1), 267–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-012-0500-x
- Monfort, P., Gomez-Gimenez, B., Llansola, M., & Felipo, V. (2015). Gender Differences in Spatial Learning, Synaptic Activity, and Long-Term Potentiation in the Hippocampus in Rats: Molecular Mechanisms. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 6(8), 1420–1427. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.5b00096

- Moscovitch, M., Cabeza, R., Winocur, G., & Nadel, L. (2016). Episodic Memory and Beyond: The Hippocampus and Neocortex in Transformation. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143733
- Moser, E., Moser, M., & Andersen, P. (1993). Spatial learning impairment parallels the magnitude of dorsal hippocampal lesions, but is hardly present following ventral lesions. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 13(9), 3916–3925. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.13-09-03916.1993
- Nakashiba, T., Cushman, J. D., Pelkey, K. A., Renaudineau, S., Buhl, D. L., McHugh, T. J., Barrera, V. R., Chittajallu, R., Iwamoto, K. S., McBain, C. J., Fanselow, M. S., & Tonegawa, S. (2012). Young Dentate Granule Cells Mediate Pattern Separation, whereas Old Granule Cells Facilitate Pattern Completion. *Cell*, *149*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.01.046
- Neunuebel, J. P., & Knierim, J. J. (2014). CA3 Retrieves Coherent Representations from Degraded Input: Direct Evidence for CA3 Pattern Completion and Dentate Gyrus Pattern Separation. *Neuron*, 81(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.11.017
- Ngo, C. T., Newcombe, N. S., & Olson, I. R. (2018). The ontogeny of relational memory and pattern separation. *Developmental Science*, *21*(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12556
- Norman, K. A., & O'Reilly, R. C. (2003). Modeling hippocampal and neocortical contributions to recognition memory: A complementary-learning-systems approach. *Psychological Review*, *110*(4), 611–646. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.110.4.611
- Omoluabi, T., Torraville, S. E., Maziar, A., Ghosh, A., Power, K. D., Reinhardt, C., Harley, C. W., & Yuan, Q. (2021). Novelty-like activation of locus coeruleus protects against deleterious human pretangle tau effects while stress-inducing activation worsens its effects. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/trc2.12231
- Oomen, C. A., Hvoslef-Eide, M., Heath, C. J., Mar, A. C., Horner, A. E., Bussey, T. J., & Saksida, L. M. (2013). The touchscreen operant platform for testing working memory and pattern separation in rats and mice. *Nature Protocols*, 8(10), 2006–2021. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2013.124
- Owen, D., Andrews, M. H., & Matthews, S. G. (2005). RETRACTED: Maternal adversity, glucocorticoids and programming of neuroendocrine function and behaviour. *Neuroscience* & *Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(2), 209–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.10.004

- Qi, C.-C., Ge, J.-F., & Zhou, J.-N. (2015). Preliminary evidence that abscisic acid improves spatial memory in rats. *Physiology & Behavior*, 139, 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.11.053
- Qi, X., Zhang, K., Xu, T., Yamaki, V. N., Wei, Z., Huang, M., Rose, G. M., & Cai, X. (2016). Sex Differences in Long-Term Potentiation at Temporoammonic-CA1 Synapses: Potential Implications for Memory Consolidation. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(11), e0165891. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165891
- Qiu, L. R., Germann, J., Spring, S., Alm, C., Vousden, D. A., Palmert, M. R., & Lerch, J. P. (2013).
 Hippocampal volumes differ across the mouse estrous cycle, can change within 24hours, and associate with cognitive strategies. *NeuroImage*, *83*, 593–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.06.074
- Reichelt, A. C., Kramar, C. P., Ghosh-Swaby, O. R., Sheppard, P. A. S., Kent, B. A., Bekinschtein, P., Saksida, L. M., & Bussey, T. J. (2021). The spontaneous location recognition task for assessing spatial pattern separation and memory across a delay in rats and mice. *Nature Protocols*, 16(12), 5616–5633. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-021-00627-w
- Riphagen, J. M., Schmiedek, L., Gronenschild, E. H. B. M., Yassa, M. A., Priovoulos, N., Sack,
 A. T., Verhey, F. R. J., & Jacobs, H. I. L. (2020). Associations between pattern separation and hippocampal subfield structure and function vary along the lifespan: A 7 T imaging study. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64595-z
- Rollins, L., & Cloude, E. B. (2018). Development of mnemonic discrimination during childhood. *Learning & Memory*, 25(6), 294–297. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.047142.117
- Rolls, E. T. (2007). An attractor network in the hippocampus: Theory and neurophysiology. *Learning & Memory*, 14(11), 714–731. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.631207
- Rolls, E. T. (2013). The mechanisms for pattern completion and pattern separation in the hippocampus. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2013.00074
- Rummel, J., Epp, J. R., & Galea, L. A. M. (2010). Estradiol does not influence strategy choice but place strategy choice is associated with increased cell proliferation in the hippocampus of female rats. *Hormones and Behavior*, 58(4), 582–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.07.009

- Sargolini, F., Fyhn, M., Hafting, T., McNaughton, B. L., Witter, M. P., Moser, M.-B., & Moser,
 E. I. (2006). Conjunctive Representation of Position, Direction, and Velocity in Entorhinal
 Cortex. *Science*, *312*(5774), 758–762. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1125572
- Saucier, D. M., Shultz, S. R., Keller, A. J., Cook, C. M., & Binsted, G. (2007). Sex differences in object location memory and spatial navigation in Long-Evans rats. *Animal Cognition*, 11(1), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10071-007-0096-1
- Scoville, W. B., & Milner, B. (1957). LOSS OF RECENT MEMORY AFTER BILATERAL HIPPOCAMPAL LESIONS. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 20(1), 11– 21. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.20.1.11
- Sengupta, P. (2013). The Laboratory Rat: Relating Its Age With Human's. *International Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 4(6), 624–630.
- Squire, L. R. (1992). Memory and the hippocampus: A synthesis from findings with rats, monkeys, and humans. *Psychological Review*, 99(2), 195–231. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.99.2.195
- Stark, S. M., Yassa, M. A., Lacy, J. W., & Stark, C. E. L. (2013). A task to assess behavioral pattern separation (BPS) in humans: Data from healthy aging and mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychologia*, 51(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.12.014
- Stark, S. M., Yassa, M. A., & Stark, C. E. L. (2010). Individual differences in spatial pattern separation performance associated with healthy aging in humans. *Learning & Memory*, 17(6). https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1768110
- Sweatt, J. D. (2016). Neural plasticity and behavior sixty years of conceptual advances. *Journal* of Neurochemistry, 139(S2), 179–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13580
- Tada, H., Koide, M., Ara, W., Shibata, Y., Funabashi, T., Suyama, K., Goto, T., & Takahashi, T. (2015). Estrous Cycle-Dependent Phasic Changes in the Stoichiometry of Hippocampal Synaptic AMPA Receptors in Rats. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(6), e0131359. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131359
- Talpos, J. C., McTighe, S. M., Dias, R., Saksida, L. M., & Bussey, T. J. (2010). Trial-unique, delayed nonmatching-to-location (TUNL): A novel, highly hippocampus-dependent automated touchscreen test of location memory and pattern separation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 94(3), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2010.07.006

- Tanapat, P., Hastings, N. B., Reeves, A. J., & Gould, E. (1999). Estrogen Stimulates a Transient Increase in the Number of New Neurons in the Dentate Gyrus of the Adult Female Rat. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(14), 5792–5801. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.19-14-05792.1999
- Tronel, S., Belnoue, L., Grosjean, N., Revest, J., Piazza, P., Koehl, M., & Abrous, D. N. (2012). Adult-born neurons are necessary for extended contextual discrimination. *Hippocampus*, 22(2), 292–298. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20895
- Tuscher, J. J., Taxier, L. R., Fortress, A. M., & Frick, K. M. (2018). Chemogenetic inactivation of the dorsal hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex, individually and concurrently, impairs object recognition and spatial memory consolidation in female mice. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 156, 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2018.11.002
- van Groen, T., & Wyss, J. M. (1990). The connections of presubiculum and parasubiculum in the rat. *Brain Research*, *518*(1–2), 227–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(90)90976-I
- Walling, S. G., Milway, J. S., Ingram, M., Lau, C., Morrison, G., & Martin, G. M. (2016). The effects of prolonged administration of norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors on long-term potentiation in dentate gyrus, and on tests of spatial and object recognition memory in rats. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 128, 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2015.12.013
- Warren, S. G., Humphreys, A. G., Juraska, J. M., & Greenough, W. T. (1995). LTP varies across the estrous cycle: enhanced synaptic plasticity in proestrus rats. *Brain Research*, 703(1–2), 26–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(95)01059-9
- Yagi, S., & Galea, L. A. M. (2019). Sex differences in hippocampal cognition and neurogenesis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 44(1), 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0208-4
- Yang, D.-W., Pan, B., Han, T.-Z., & Xie, W. (2004). Sexual dimorphism in the induction of LTP: Critical role of tetanizing stimulation. *Life Sciences*, 75(1), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2003.12.004
- Yassa, M. A., Mattfeld, A. T., Stark, S. M., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Age-related memory deficits linked to circuit-specific disruptions in the hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(21), 8873–8878. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1101567108
- Yassa, M. A., & Stark, C. E. L. (2011). Pattern separation in the hippocampus. Trends in Neurosciences, 34(10). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.06.006

- Youm, A., & Moscovitch, M. (2021). Aging, pattern separation, and categorical perception of faces. *Neuropsychologia*, 161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2021.107999
- Zhvania, M. G., Japaridze, N., Tizabi, Y., Lomidze, N., Pochkhidze, N., & Lordkipanidze, T. (2021). Age-related cognitive decline in rats is sex and context dependent. *Neuroscience Letters*, 765, 136262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2021.136262